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Memo 

To: Postal Service Advocate 

From: Mitchell Kastner 

CC: Grievant & NPMHU Local President 

Re: Illegal Suspension of Grievant 

By this memorandum, I am notifying you that I will file an appeal with the Merit Systems 
Protection Board from the agency’s decision to constructively suspend Grievant from 
November 1, 2003 through January 13, 2004 unless the agency agrees to pay $8267 less the 
usual payroll deductions. 

As you are aware, on September 11, 2003, the agency placed Grievant on Emergency 
Placement without pay for allegedly threatening MDO [first-level supervisor]. Grievant has 
advised me that subsequently the agency paid him his base salary from September 11, 2003 
through October 31, 2003, but, thereafter, he was continued on Emergency Placement without 
pay until January 13, 2004, the effective date of his removal. Grievant and I allege that the 
agency’s decision to continue Grievant on Emergency Placement without pay constituted a 
suspension for more than fourteen days which violated 5 U.S.C. § 7513, which provides in 
pertinent part as follows: 

(a)  
Under regulations prescribed by the Office of Personnel 
Management, an agency may take an action covered by this 
subchapter against an employee only for such cause as will 
promote the efficiency of the service.  
(b)  
An employee against whom an action is proposed is 
entitled to -  
(1)  
at least 30 days' advance written notice, unless there is 
reasonable cause to believe the employee has committed a 
crime for which a sentence of imprisonment may be 
imposed, stating the specific reasons for the proposed 
action;  
(2)  
a reasonable time, but not less than 7 days, to answer orally 
and in writing and to furnish affidavits and other 
documentary evidence in support of the answer;  
(3)  
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be represented by an attorney or other representative; and  
(4)  
a written decision and the specific reasons therefor at the 
earliest practicable date.  
(c)  
An agency may provide, by regulation, for a hearing which 
may be in lieu of or in addition to the opportunity to answer 
provided under subsection (b)(2) of this section.  
(d)  
An employee against whom an action is taken under this 
section is entitled to appeal to the Merit Systems Protection 
Board under section 7701 of this title.  
(e)  
Copies of the notice of proposed action, the answer of the 
employee when written, a summary thereof when made 
orally, the notice of decision and reasons therefor, and any 
order effecting an action covered by this subchapter, 
together with any supporting material, shall be maintained 
by the agency and shall be furnished to the Board upon its 
request and to the employee affected upon the employee's 
request 
  

 
The first question that must be answered is whether the emergency placement constitutes 
an action covered by subchapter II of Chapter 75 of Title 5 of the United States Code. 5 
U.S.C §. 7512 specifies the actions covered by subchapter II and provides in pertinent 
part as follows: 
  
  

This subchapter applies to -  
... 
  
(2)  
a suspension for more than 14 days;  
  
  

This in turn begs the questions: did the agency suspend Grievant and, if so, for how long? 
 
An employee's voluntary absence from work is not appealable. Baker v. U.S. Postal Service, 
71 M.S.P.R. 680, 691-92 (1996). If, however, an agency bars an employee from work, the 
resulting absence is appealable as a constructive suspension if it lasts more than fourteen days. 
See Dize v. Department of the Army, 73 M.S.P.R. 635, 638 (1997); Justice v. Department of 
Navy  89 M.S.P.R. 379, *383 
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There is no gainsaying that the postal service barred Grievant from work when it placed him 
on emergency placement on September 11, 2003; but the emergency placement was not a 
suspension until October 31, 2003, when it stopped paying him. Before then, the emergency 
placement constituted administrative leave which was not appealable to MSPB. But the 
emergency placement from November 1, 2003 through January 13, 2004 constituted a 
seventy-four day suspension which is an action which was covered by 5 U.S.C §. 7512. 

But Grievant was not entitled to the procedures under 5 U.S.C. § 7513 unless he was an 
“employee.”  

The term "employee" is defined by statute under 5 U.S.C. § 7511(a), which provides in 
pertinent part as follows: 

A. For the purpose of this subchapter--  

1. "employee" means--  

a. a preference eligible in the excepted 
service who has completed 1 year of 
current continuous service in the 
same or similar positions--  

i. in an Executive 
agency; or  

ii. in the United States 
Postal Service or 
Postal Rate 
Commission;  

 

Grievant meets the definition of “employee” because: 1. he is a preference eligible because he 
is a ten point disabled veterans who served in the Army during the Viet Nam Era and because 
he has completed more than one year of current continuous service. 

Accordingly, Grievant was entitled to, but did not receive, the procedures under section 7513 
when the agency constructively suspended him from November 1, 2003 through January 13, 
2004. 

The agency’s failure to follow the procedures required by 5 U.S.C. § 7513(b) denied Grievant 
minimum due process. Cleveland Board of Education v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 546 
(1985) (a tenured public employee is entitled to notice of the charges against him, an 
explanation of the employer’s evidence, and an opportunity to present his side of the story). 
That failure also constituted harmful error which would mandate reversal of the constructive 
suspension 5 U.S.C. § 7701(c)(2)(A) (an agency’s decision may not be sustained if the 
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employee shows harmful error in the application of the agency’s procedures in arriving at the 
decision); Stephen v. Department of the Air Force, 47 M.S.P.R. 672, 681, 685 (1991)  

I caution you against surmising that MSPB will not accept Grievant’s appeal of his 
constructive suspension as timely filed. The agency’s failure to notify Grievant of his right to 
file an appeal from the constructive suspension, by itself, constitutes good cause to extend the 
time limit for filing where as here he was unaware that he had been subjected to an appealable 
adverse action. Shiflett v. U.S. Postal Service, 839 F.2d 669, 672 (Fed. Cir. 1988). 

I believe that the impetus for the agency to pay Grievant now the salary he lost as a result of 
the illegal suspension is to avoid paying me attorney fees when Grievant prevails before 
MSPB. 

In order to establish entitlement to an award of attorney fees, an appellant must show that: (1) 
He is the prevailing party; (2) he incurred attorney fees; (3) an award of fees is warranted in 
the interest of justice; and (4) the amount of fees claimed is reasonable. See 5 U.S.C. § 
7701(g)(1); Joyce v. Department of the Air Force, 74 M.S.P.R. 112, 117 (1997). If the Board 
reverses the suspension because of harmful error, Grievant would be the prevailing party and 
he has incurred attorney fees so the only question is whether the award of fees would be in the 
interest of justice. 

In  Allen v. U.S. Postal Service, 2 MSPB 582, 2 M.S.P.R. 420, 434-35 (1980), the Board held 
that an attorney fee award may be warranted in the interest of justice when, e.g.: (1) The 
agency engaged in a prohibited personnel practice; (2) the agency action was clearly without 
merit or wholly unfounded, or the employee was substantially innocent of the charges; (3) the 
agency initiated the action in bad faith; (4) the agency committed a gross procedural error 
which prolonged the proceeding or severely prejudiced the employee; or (5) the agency knew 
or should have known that it would not prevail on the merits when it brought the proceedings. 

The agency’s failure to provide Grievant the due process rights to which he was entitled was 
more than gross; it was willful and wanton. The agency knew that Grievant was entitled to 
those rights, as a preference eligible, because it provided them to him in connection with his 
removal. The negotiated labor agreement with NPMHU moreover specifically provides that a 
preference eligible’s rights under the Veterans Preference Act will not be abrogated. Art. 16, 
section 16.9. Because the agency illegally suspended Grievant during the notice period of his 
removal, it could and did take “it’s sweet ole time” in making its decision on his removal 
Grievant’s removal was proposed on October 4, 2003, but was not effective until January 13, 
2004. Accordingly, the illegal suspension prolonged the proceeding thus warranting the award 
of attorney fees in the interest of justice. 

Please also do not surmise that you will be able to divest the Board of jurisdiction by canceling 
the emergency suspension after I file the appeal with the Board. Under Himmel v. Department 
of Justice, 6 M.S.P.R. 484, 486 (1981), the Board’s jurisdiction is determined by the nature of 
the agency’s action against an appellant when he filed his Board appeal. 
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I calculated the gross amount of back pay to which Grievant is entitled as follows: the illegal 
suspension lasted 74 days which comprises approximately 20 percent of one year which when 
multiplied against his annual base salary of $ 41335 amounts to $8,267. 

If I do not hear back from you by Monday, I will assume that you reject this offer and I will 
file the appeal with MSPB. If you do accept the offer, the union’s grievance of Grievant’s 
emergency placement will be rendered moot so long as it cannot be used as past discipline, but 
the grievance and arbitration of his removal will continue forward. 


